IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

TORSHA A. BROWN

APPELLANT

V.

2008-CP-01430

HARRAH'S ENTERTAINMENT d/b/a
HORSESHOE CASINO-TUNICA

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS:

The undersigned appellant (pro se) certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Here list names of all such persons and identify their connection and interest.

Torsha A. Brown- Appellant (pro se)

Honorable Robert L. Moore-Counsel for defendants

Statement of Issues:

- I. Whether the trial court failed to adequately consider the plaintiff's claims of negligence as separate causes of action from the intentional tort of false arrest
- II. Whether the trial court erred by applying an incorrect standard of law when it granted summary judgment in favor of the defendant.
- III. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by allowing Harrah's Entertainment to withhold or destroy surveillance evidence relating to the case.

- IV. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by allowing the defendants to violate both M.R.C.P. and violate court's order setting deadlines for discovery, hearing on preliminary matters, and pretrial statement.
- V. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by failing to implement balance and equity during oral arguments and motion requests.
- VI. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by directing motions to be heard in the same setting in which information obtained from one of these motions was a required evidentiary matter to be considered for another motion

Statement of the Case:

This case is appealed from The Circuit Court of Tunica County for its finding of summary judgment in favor of Harrah's Entertainment. The appellant seeks reversal and remand of that decision on the grounds that there were acts of negligent omissions and commissions by Harrah's Entertainment committed against Ms. Brown, which are governed by the three-year statute of limitations rather than the one-year statute of limitations.

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On September 27, 2005, the plaintiff was seated playing blackjack at the Horseshoe Casino in Tunica, Mississippi. She was surrounded by several Horseshoe security officers who approached her among several other patrons at the blackjack table and requested her I.D. The plaintiff asked the officer who appeared to be in charge (wearing a blue blazer) why he needed I.D., and he responded, "because you have to be 21 to be in

here."

The plaintiff, who was then 31-years of age and a regular guest at this establishment, stated that she would just leave, and, she along with another guest, Precious Moore, left the table and then attempted to leave the premises through the front door. The plaintiff had her purse in one hand and casino chips in the other hand that she had picked up as she left the table.

The plaintiff was followed, surrounded, and forced against a blackjack table near the front exit, handcuffed and placed under arrest by three female and two male Horseshoe security officers. She was then taken to a security room and handcuffed to a metal bench. The plaintiff asked the security supervisor why she was being arrested and he responded, "You are not supposed to be in our casino."

The security supervisor told the plaintiff that she was being charged with trespassing and disturbing the peace. The contents of the plaintiff's purse as well as the plaintiff were searched by Horseshoe Casino security.

After approximately one hour of being handcuffed to a bench, a Tunica County deputy arrived, and Horseshoe Casino security officers along with the deputy, escorted the plaintiff to the deputy's patrol car. The plaintiff was transported to the Tunica County Jail where she was placed in a holding cell for several hours before family members arrived and presented fees for her bail.

The plaintiff pleaded not guilty to both charges (trespassing and disturbing the peace) in the Justice Court of Tunica County. Horseshoe Casino was represented by Mr. Charles Graves, Tunica County Prosecuting Attorney, and presented one witness on its behalf, Ms. Gladys Jackson (a 10-year security officer by her own admission), who had

participated in the arrest.

The plaintiff appeared pro se before the Justice Court of Tunica County.

Jackson introduced a sworn affidavit that she had signed stating that the plaintiff "became violent and pushed over a blackjack table and said in a loud voice 'I don't have to show you no damn I.D." Jackson stated that she could produce no documentation or surveillance of a prior eviction of the plaintiff but told the court, "My supervisor said she was a prior."

Jackson also stated that she could produce no surveillance of the plaintiff's arrest on September 27, 2005, but could show the court the affidavit, that she had signed, which would explain what happened.

After Ms. Jackson's testimony, The Justice Court of Tunica County found that no prior eviction of Ms. Brown had taken place and found that the plaintiff was not trespassing, and as a result, the court dismissed the charge of trespassing.

This finding by The Tunica County Justice Court was admitted under oath by Ms. Jackson at Ms. Brown's appeal in the Circuit Court of Tunica County. (Page 14) (Cross Examination) of Court Transcript Docket (CI-2005-0392-AS)

Question: "In Justice Court, was I or was I not found not guilty of trespassing? Was I found guilty or not guilty of trespassing?

Answer: "Not guilty"

Question: "Okay. So that means that I-- that the Judge found that I had never been prior evicted in the first place. So I was never trespassing in the first place, is that correct?

Answer: "That's what he said."

The plaintiff was found guilty of the charge of disturbing the peace in Tunica County

Justice Court after Ms. Jackson's testimony and presentation of an affidavit to the court
that Ms. Brown "became violent and pushed over a blackjack table" during her arrest.

The plaintiff appealed the guilty verdict to The Circuit Court of Tunica County on
grounds that the arrest was unlawful and not valid because she was never trespassing, and
also presented testimony to the Circuit Court that she had not become violent nor had she
pushed over a blackjack table.

The affidavit that Ms. Jackson had signed on September 27, 2005, was presented to both the Justice Court of Tunica County and also to the Circuit Court of Tunica County during the appeal of the disturbing the peace conviction.

Ms. Jackson then presented the Tunica County Circuit Court with the following testimony regarding the information that was contained in the affidavit that she had signed.

(Page 8 of Direct Examination) of Court Transcript Docket (CI-2005-0392-AS)

Question: "Did you see her push over the blackjack table?"

Answer: "I didn't see her just push it over you know. It was—"

Question: "Well, tell us how it happened."

Answer: "It was overturned in the process of arresting her."

(Page 10 of Direct Examination) of Court Transcript Docket (CI-2005-0392-AS)

Question: "Well, who pushed the table over?"

Answer: "All I know, it was just knocked—overturned, you know, in the process of us trying to arrest her."

The disturbing the peace conviction was reversed and dismissed.

The plaintiff filed a Complaint (on September 21, 2007) in the Circuit Court of Tunica County on the grounds that the negligent omissions and commissions of Harrah's Entertainment and its security personnel had caused harm to her on September 27, 2005. Ms Brown stated in the Complaint that she had been falsely arrested on that date. The plaintiff received an order by the trial court dated September 27, 2007 regarding orders setting deadlines for discovery, hearing on preliminary matters and pretrial statement and orders to be approved by attorneys along with an assignment letter for the specific court.

The plaintiff received an answer to the Complaint dated February 7, 2007 and a notice of filing of discovery from the defendant. The plaintiff provided answers to interrogatories on March 4, 2008, with objections to interrogatories 7, 8, 9, 11, and 12. The defendant filed a motion to compel answers to these interrogatories on March 10, 2008.

On March 12, 2008, the plaintiff filed a notice of discovery and requested answers to seven interrogatories from the defendant. The plaintiff then wrote a letter on March 13, 2008 to the defendant in an attempt to settle the case.

On March 31, 2008, the defendant filed a motion for protective order (from providing answers to the plaintiff's seven interrogatories) and also filed a motion for summary judgment.

On April 7, 2008, the plaintiff filed a notice of opposition to the defendant's motion for summary judgment along with a cross-motion for summary judgment.

A hearing was held on June 6, 2008 on the defendant's motion to compel answers to interrogatories from the plaintiff, and the trial court ordered the plaintiff to

provide the defendant with answers to interrogatories 7, 8, 9, 11, and 12 within (30) days. After the motion to compel hearing on June 6, 2008, the trial court gave the directive to a court staff member to schedule a date for the defendant's motion for protective order and the cross-motions for summary judgment to be heard. The motions were scheduled to be heard on July 23, 2008.

On June 19, 2008, the plaintiff wrote a letter to the trial court requesting that the court review the situation of whether the defendant's access to all of their requested interrogatories without the plaintiff having access to any of the information requested in her interrogatories during the July 23rd motion hearings would allow the defendant an unfair advantage.

On July 23rd 2008 the trial court denied the plaintiff's motion for summary judgment and granted the defendant's motion for summary judgment with prejudice.

Summary of Argument:

The security supervisor along with security officers failed to perform a reasonable investigation into casino records to verify whether the plaintiff was actually barred from Horseshoe Casino's property prior to arresting her. This flawed investigation was under the direction and supervision of a security supervisor, whose decisions were hasty, reckless, and insufficient and who had been given essential and critical duties for which he was not prepared to perform.

The security supervisor in charge of Ms. Brown's arrest give subordinate officers inappropriate directives, and failed to properly supervise or correct the actions of a male officer who made inappropriate, lewd contact with the plaintiff. This male officer's actions were in plain view of employees, patrons, which would be clearly visible on

surveillance footage.

The actions of the security supervisor in charge of the arrest of Ms. Brown on September 27, 2005 show that he did not have an honest belief that Ms. Brown was guilty of breaking the law. He attempted to conceal his error in judgment of hastily and recklessly ordering the arrest of Ms. Brown by giving another improper directive to a subordinate officer by having her to sign the contents of an affidavit, which he had solely and inaccurately drafted. The affiant, a 10-year security officer, admitted under oath that she had not witnessed the plaintiff become violent and push over a blackjack table, as was stated in the affidavit that she had signed.

The company, Harrah's Entertainment, should have more thoroughly trained and monitored its employees to ensure competence in the actions and performance of its security supervisor and other members of its staff. The company failed to properly and reasonably prevent its employees from harming Ms. Brown through their actions and failures to take action.

The Tunica County Justice Court's finding of guilt of disturbing the peace resulted directly from distorted facts contained in an improper, inaccurate affidavit, not from any of Ms. Brown's actions.

Although the plaintiff made a proper and timely discovery request for the production of surveillance evidence pertaining to this case, Harrah's Entertainment has suppressed or destroyed all surveillance footage surrounding Ms. Brown's arrest, which could clearly show the events, which occurred on September 27, 2005.

The actions of Harrah's Entertainment and its employees were negligent, and without probable cause, and these actions caused the plaintiff to lose wages and incur unnecessary

expenses, suffer emotional distress and pain and suffering, and also suffer further mental anguish because of fear of losing her job as a teacher after being she was convicted of disturbing the peace.

In order to have probable cause to make an arrest, the person initiating the prosecution must have both "(1) an honest belief on the guilt of the person accused, and (2) reasonable grounds for such belief Harvill v. Tabor, 240 Miss. 750, 128 So.2d 863, 865 (Miss. 1961)); C & C Trucking Co. v. Smith, 612 So. 2d at 1100. (Miss 1992). Not only did Harrah's Entertainment withhold or destroy vital surveillance evidence, but also the company provided the trial court with blatantly fabricated and unsubstantiated information, engaged in discovery violations, ignored directives in an order issued by the trial court, and also violated the Mississippi Code for Civil Procedure and proceeded with improper motions.

Argument:

I. Whether the trial court failed to adequately consider the plaintiff's claims of negligence as separate causes of action from the intentional tort of false arrest

Ms. Brown contends that on September 27, 2005, both intentional and negligent torts were committed against her and concedes that though the one-year statute of limitations prevents her from bringing causes of action from the intentional torts committed against her, that does not cancel the negligent causes of action. *In Hutchinson v. Smith, 417 So.* 2^{nd} 926, 928 (Miss 1982) The Supreme Court of Mississippi found, "Where a party has two or more remedies for enforcement of a right, the fact that one remedy is barred by the statute of limitations does not bar the other remedies." Thus, the plaintiff argues that the

applicable statutes of limitations should have been considered separately by the trial court for intentional and negligent torts.

The State of Mississippi recognizes the tort of negligence, which was pled by Ms. Brown, as well as the torts of negligent hiring, training and supervision.

"A plaintiff in a negligence suit must prove by a preponderance of the evidence (1) duty, (2) breach of duty, (3) causation, and (4) injury. To recover, a plaintiff must prove causation in fact and proximate cause." *Patterson v. Liberty Assocs.*, *L.P.*, 910 So. 2d 1014, 1019 (Miss. 2004).

In the case of Patterson v. Liberty Assoc., the court explained that proximate cause is a cause "without which the result would not have occurred." (quoting *Delahoussaye v. Mary Mahoney's*, *Inc.*, 783 So. 2d 666, 671 (Miss. 2001).

There were several instances in which the actions of Harrah's Entertainment and its employees constituted negligent commissions and omissions, and those actions should have allowed to proceed to trial by the trial court.

Harrah's Entertainment and its security officers failed in their duty to verify security records to see if Torsha Brown (the plaintiff) was actually barred from the premise prior to arresting her. According to testimony by Ms. Gladys Jackson during the appeal of the disturbing the peace conviction in the Circuit Court of Tunica County, Jackson stated that a pit clerk had called security and said that a "prior perm' was sitting at the blackjack table in pit three. She stated, "The pit person called an said they had—we had a person there that had been prior permanently evicted from there." (page 5) Tunica County Circuit Court Appeal Transcript Docket (CI-2005-0392-AS).

Ms. Brown, who had been at the blackjack table for approximately two hours, was

singled out to be arrested because of an incorrect assumption by the security supervisor that she was an individual barred from the premise. According to Ms. Jackson's testimony, no confirmation or substantiation was made of this alleged statement from a pit clerk. Because the supervisor unreasonably acted upon misleading, unverified information, Ms. Brown was arrested, inappropriately touched by a male officer, and placed in extreme emotional distress. Probable cause must not be based upon an inadequate and unreasonable investigation of the circumstances concerning the alleged criminal conduct. Benjamin v. Hooper Electronic Supply Co., 568 So. 2d 1182, 1190-91 (Miss 1990).

The plaintiff contends that the security supervisor failed in his duty to demonstrate appropriate,, company policy oriented decision-making; therefore, he negligently performed his job duties. Alternatively, if the company's policy allows individuals to be arrested based on unverified information, then the company maintains a negligent and unlawful policy.

Through all actions before, during, and after Ms. Brown's arrest, this security supervisor failed to exercise the knowledge, skill or ability ordinarily possessed and exercised by a person in a supervisory position. The reckless, actions and decisions made by the security supervisor to order an arrest without probable cause and without conducting any reasonable inquiry or investigation prior to ordering the plaintiff's arrest were not the actions of a reasonable, prudent individual.

Also, the plaintiff argues that the manner in which the arrest was conducted and the actions of security personnel toward the plaintiff were reckless. Harrah's Entertainment

and its security supervisor failed to control the actions of a male security guard who made inappropriate, lewd contact with Ms. Brown.

(Restatement of (Second) of Agency 213 § (1958). States that a person conducting an activity through servants or others is subject to liability for harm resulting from his conduct if he is negligent or reckless.

(a) in giving improper or ambiguous orders or failing to make proper regulations; or (b) in the employment of improper persons or instrumentalities in work involving risk or harm to others; (c) in the supervision of the activity; or (d) in permitting, or failing to prevent negligent or other tortuous conduct by persons, whether or not his agents, upon premises or with instrumentalities under control. (Restatement of (Second) of Agency 213 § (1958).

The supervision by this security supervisor during this arrest was negligent because he failed to reasonably and properly control or correct the actions of a male security officer who initiated improper, unnecessary, and lewd physical contact with Ms. Brown by bending her forward while she was handcuffed and aggressively pulling her jeans up by the back belt loop as far as they could anatomically go. At the time that she was grabbed in this indecent fashion, she was no longer resisting, securely handcuffed and in full compliance with the directives of the security officers. He used his forearm to bend her forward by pushing her back forward as he forcefully grabbed her belt loop and pulled her jeans up.

The actions of this male security officer were plain view of Harrah's Entertainment personnel on the casino floor, the supervising officer, and members of surveillance. His inappropriate contact would be clearly visible if surveillance footage of this incident were

to be released. However, Harrah's Entertainment has refused to release the surveillance, which would clearly show that this male officer's actions were outrageous, excessive, wanton and inappropriate. This male officer was allowed to violate her in plain view of the supervisor and others without any Harrah's Entertainment employee intervening or attempting in any way to stop him. In arguments submitted to the trial court, Ms. Brown maintained that the conduct of both this male security guard and the security supervisor were reckless and outrageous.

Where there is something about the defendant's conduct, which evokes outrage or revulsion, done intentionally--or even unintentionally yet the results being reasonably foreseeable—Courts can in certain circumstances comfortably assess damages for mental and emotional stress, eventhough there has been no physical injury. Sears, Roebuck & Co. v. Devers, 405 So. 2d 898, 902 (Miss. 1981). In Devers, a store-patron was detained for a short time when a tag, which had inadvertently been left on a sweater she had purchased set off an alarm while she was leaving the store. The Court held she could bring action for negligence, and damages are recoverable for mental pain and anguish by a willful, wanton, malicious or intentional wrong even though no bodily injury was sustained.

Such a severe violation by this male officer should have been immediately corrected by the supervising officer or another manager and instructed to lead the plaintiff to the security room by guiding her arm or the handcuffs, not by making any unnecessary direct or indirect improper contact with personal parts of the plaintiff's body.

The male officer's actions were not objectively reasonable and went beyond necessary measures needed to conduct a proper arrest. Three female officers were present who

could have properly guided Ms. Brown to the place for her to be detained. She posed no risk to these officers because she was handcuffed with her purse in one hand and approximately \$160 in five dollar (casino chips) in the other hand.

It would have been reasonable and prudent for the security supervisor to instruct a female officer to switch positions with this male officer; however, he failed to give proper directions to any of the security officers during the entire arrest process.

Though this male officer did not frisk her, he unnecessarily compromised her by making indirect contact with her genital area in the way that he grabbed her and in the amount of force that he applied in pulling up her belt loop, thus forcing her underwear up into her buttocks and genital area while she was handcuffed, posing no threat to the officers, and cooperating with them.

The company policy regarding personal contact of male security officers with female arrestees when female security officers are present was either inadequate or not properly followed or supervised.

The deference of male police officers to female officers in conducting the frisk of female suspects appears a common, if certainly not exclusive, practice throughout the country, one which reflects the "[s]ocial sensitivity about stereognosis of . . . the breasts and genital area of a female suspect" United States v. Kelly, 913 F.2d 261, 267 (6th Cir. 1990); United States v. Banshee, 91 F.3d 99, 101 (11th Cir. 1996).

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