IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TORSHA A. BROWN,

Appellant,

Vs.

ι

ſ

ŝ

1

NO. 2008-CP-01430

HARRAH'S ENTERTAINMENT d/b/a HORSESHOE TUNICA-CASINO,

Appellee.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

APPEALED FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF TUNICA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CIVIL ACTION 2007-0262

Robert L. Moore, Esq. Russell B. Jordan, Esq. HEATON AND MOORE, P.C. 100 North Main, Suite 3400 Memphis, Tennessee 38103 901-526-5975

Attorneys for Appellee

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

TORSHA A. BROWN,

Vs.

Appellant,

NO. 2008-CP-01430

HARRAH'S ENTERTAINMENT d/b/a HORSESHOE TUNICA-CASINO,

Appellee.

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

ARGUMENT

Summary judgment is mandated, where the respondent has failed to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial. *Wilbourn v. Stennett, Wilkinson & Ward*, 687 So.2d 1205, 1214 (Miss. 1996), <u>quoting Galloway v. Traveler's Insurance Co.</u>, 515 So.2d 678, 683 (Miss. 1987). When a party opposing summary judgment on a claim or defense as to which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial, fails to make a showing sufficient to establish an essential element of the claim or defense, then all other facts are immaterial, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Galloway*, 515 So.2d at 684.

A. THE APPELLANT/PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM WAS FILED AFTER THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS PERIOD HAD RUN

"False arrest" is an intentional tort which occurs when one causes another to be arrested falsely, unlawfully, maliciously and without probable cause. *Croft v. Grand Casino-Tunica, Inc.,* 910 So. 2d 66, 75 (¶ 34) (Miss. App. 2005). Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-35, eight enumerated intentional torts, including malicious arrest, are subject to a one-year limitations period. Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-35. Although not specifically enumerated, an action for false arrest is deemed to be no different from the intentional tort of malicious arrest and is subject to the same one-year limitations period as an action for malicious arrest. *Mound Bayou v. Johnson*, 562 So.2d 1212, 1218 (Miss. 1990).

An action for false arrest accrues on the day on which it occurs. *Id.* at 1217. Clearly, Ms. Brown's claim, should one exist, arose on September 27, 2005. Her complaint was not filed

until September 21, 2007. In her complaint, she alleges that "Defendant caused Plaintiff to be falsely arrested for trespassing and disturbing the peace." (R. 7-9). Throughout the whole of the complaint, this is the only allegation which she makes against the defendant/appellee. Because this complaint was not timely filed, the plaintiff/appellant's claim for false arrest must be dismissed. She admits as much in her own brief. Because the only claim which she has against the defendant/appellee is for false arrest, this entire cause of action should be dismissed.

B. BECAUSE PROBABLE CAUSE EXISTED, THE DEFENDANT CANNOT BE FOUND LIABLE FOR FALSE ARREST

Not only must the plaintiff/appellee's claim for false arrest fail because it is time barred, it also must fail because she is incapable of meeting the burden of proof necessary to prove the elements of false arrest. If there is probable cause for the charges, then the plaintiff's arrest is supported by probable cause, and a claim for false arrest must fail. *Price v. Roark*, 256 F.3d 364, 369 (5th Cir. 2001).

In evaluating probable cause, the Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that probable cause is determined from the facts apparent to the reasonable person at the time the prosecution is initiated. *Van v. Grand Casinos of Mississippi, Inc.*, 767 So.2d 1014, 1020 (¶ 14) (Miss. 2000). The Mississippi Court of Appeals, citing W. Prosser & W. Keaton, *The Law of Torts* §§ 119 (5th Ed. 1984), stated that "the existence of probable cause, which involves only the conduct of a reasonable man under the circumstances, and does not differ essentially from the determination of negligence, usually is taken out of the hands of the jury, and held to be a matter for decision by the court. That is to say, the court will determine whether upon the appearances presented to the defendant, a reasonable person would have instituted the proceeding." *Croft v. Grand Casino Tunica*, 910 So.2d 66, 74 (¶ 25) (Miss.Ct.App. 2005).

When a conviction is obtained in a lower court prosecution, whether that conviction is later reversed or not, then a *prima facie* case that probable cause is present is established. *Gaylords of Meridian v. Sicard*, 384 So. 2d 1042, 1044 (Miss. 1980); *J.C. Penney Co. Inc., v. Blush*, 356 So. 2d 590, 592 (Miss. 1978). This is true even when a defendant is subsequently tried and found to be not guilty. *Keen v. Simpson County*, 904 So. 2d 1157, 1161 (¶ 21) (Miss. App. 2004).

In a very similar case, the United States Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals held that evidence that a guest that was instructed to leave a casino but then refused to cooperate with security officers and attempted to walk past those officers was sufficient to show probable cause supporting the guest's arrest for trespass. *Kelly v. Beau Rivage Resorts*, 184 Fed. Appx. 364 (5th Cir. 2006).

Because the plaintiff was found guilty of the underlying offense, she cannot establish an absolute prerequisite of her claims against the defendant - - however she may wish to define them - - which is that the defendant acted without probable cause.

C. THE PLAINTIFF HAS NOT MADE AND DOES NOT HAVE A CLAIM OF NEGLIGENCE AGAINST THE DEFENDANT

In her brief, the plaintiff/appellant now alleges that the trial court's summary dismissal was improper because it also dismissed her claims of negligence. A thorough review of the plaintiff's complaint reveals no allegations of negligence or any act or omission similar to negligence. The plaintiff's complaint alleges only the following:

7. On September 27, 2005, while Plaintiff was playing blackjack, Defendant caused Plaintiff to be falsely arrested for trespassing and disturbing the peace.

8. In a proceeding before the Justice Court, the Plaintiff was found guilty of disturbing the peace. Upon appeal to the Circuit Court of Tunica County, this verdict was reversed and dismissed on February 16, 2006. A copy of the order of the February 16th proceeding is attached as Exhibit A.

CAUSATION

 As a direct and proximate result of the acts of commission and omission of Defendant, Plaintiff sustained injuries and damages as set forth herein below.

(R. at 8).

i

Rule 8(a) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure sets forth that a pleading "which sets forth a claim for relief....shall contain a short and plain statement of the claim...". It has been said before that, regardless of the merits of a plaintiff's claim, a defendant is entitled to reasonable notice of why it has been sued by a particular plaintiff. *Illinois Central R.R. Co. v. Adams*, 922 So.2d 787, 790 (¶ 9) (Miss. 2006). At a minimum, a complaint must identify a litigable event which entitles the particular plaintiff to recover; that is, the complaint must disclose, in general terms, what each defendant did wrong to each plaintiff, and when and where the alleged wrong took place. *Id.* at 790, (¶ 8). As the comment to Rule 8, sets forth, "[a]lthough Rule 8 abolishes many technical requirements of pleadings, it does not eliminate the necessity of stating circumstances, occurrences, and events which support the preferred claim". Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 8 cmt.

In her brief, the plaintiff has made allegations and described several different types of actions which she now attempts to assert, but failed to plead within her complaint. At no time were any of these allegations plead prior to the hearing on the defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. At no time did the plaintiff make any attempt to revise her pleadings to be consistent with these allegations. This is in spite of the fact that, while the case remained at issue in the trial court, sufficient time and opportunity remained for the plaintiff to make these allegations. She failed to do so.

Despite failing to do so at the trial court level, the plaintiff now attempts to assert them on appeal by arguing that the pleadings set forth in her complaint are sufficient to subject the defendant to some unknown and unenumerated claim(s) of negligence. This is exactly the type of ambiguity that Rule 8 seeks to prevent.

Because she failed to assert these claims at the trial court level, and because these claims were not considered by the trial court, she is not allowed to assert them now at the appellate level. *Ditto v. Hinds County, Miss.*, 665 So.2d 878, 880 (Miss. 1995). As this court is well aware, appellate courts are limited to the evidence which appears in the record and they "may not act upon or consider matters which do not appear in the record". *Shelton v. Kindred*, 279 So.2d 642, 644 (Miss. 1973). No attempt was ever made to amend her complaint; therefore the plaintiff is estopped from arguing that the trial court somehow prevented her from setting forth any additional allegations.

Although difficult to argue without giving credence to the plaintiff's unpled, recently made claims of negligence, but, had a negligence claim been pled, the plaintiff failed to establish one important element of such a claim- duty. The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that negligence is "the result of the failure to perform a duty, therefore actionable negligence cannot exist in the absence of a legal duty to an injured plaintiff." *Stanley v. Morgan & Lindsey, Inc.*, 203 So.2d 473, 475 (Miss. 1967). In her brief, the plaintiff cites numerous instances in which she alleges that the defendant was "negligent". Although she loosely alleges in various instances

i.

i.

ι

that the defendant had a duty to her, she fails to cite any authority setting forth this legal duty. Because the defendant did not breach a legal duty owed to her, it cannot be liable for negligence.

The trial court could not entertain a cause of action that had not been pled. Since the only cause of action pled was false arrest, and because that cause of action was dismissed, the complaint in its entirety must be dismissed.

D. EACH OF THE PLAINTIFF'S ALLEGATIONS ARE INTENTIONAL TORTS

Even assuming *arguendo*, that the plaintiff was somehow permitted to include these additional acts in her cause of action, her claims are still time barred. Although it is difficult to discern and impossible to know exactly what additional allegations the plaintiff seeks to make (because they have not been pled), from her brief, it appears that these allegations also sound in intentional torts. Namely, it appears that the plaintiff desires to make additional allegations of assault, battery, intentional infliction of emotional distress and false imprisonment. As this court well knows, not only is it improper to attempt to assert these claims for the first time at the appellate level, these claims are also time barred by Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-35.

Because each of the plaintiff's claims is time barred, the issue of whether or not a genuine issue of material fact exists is moot.

E. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION

The plaintiff alleges that the trial court abused its discretion by making a dispositive ruling on her case without reviewing certain substantive evidence. The plaintiff is misled, however, by the fact that her case was not dismissed due to its merits. It was dismissed because she had no claim under Mississippi law. The trial judge, applying Mississippi law, found that Ms. Brown had no claim and, for this reason, her case was dismissed. Substantive evidence would not be pertinent to a case, such as this, where the plaintiff's claims are prohibited by

t

ŧ

.

Ļ

Mississippi law. Because the plaintiff's claims could not pass the procedural threshold, there was no need to examine her claims substantively.

The plaintiff also alleges that the trial court abused its discretion when it did nothing to remedy the "unfair advantage" benefiting the defendant because it had not responded to discovery requests prior to the hearing on its Motion for Summary Judgment. Despite these allegations, at no time did the defendant "contumaciously" disregard the interrogatories. Instead, on a date prior to them becoming due, the defendant filed and served upon Ms. Brown a Motion for a Protective Order, relieving the defendant of the obligation of responding until after the trial court had ruled on its pending Motion for Summary Judgment. The basis of the Motion was to prevent the defendant from incurring the needless and unnecessary expense of responding to the plaintiff's discovery requests in light of the pending Motion for Summary Judgment. This is, of course, one of the bases enumerated in Rule 26 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure upon which a Motion for Protective Order can be granted. No response to the Motion for Protective Order was made by the plaintiff. A Notice of Hearing was served on the plaintiff, scheduling the Motion for Protective Order to be heard on the same date as the Motion for Summary Judgment. Because the plaintiff never filed a response to the Motion and because her claim(s) was extinguished at the hearing, that issue is now moot.

Furthermore, the dismissal of the plaintiff's case had nothing to do with a "ruling regarding discovery" and therefore it is immaterial whether or not there has been an abuse of discretion.

.

ı

ı.

In her brief, Ms. Brown points out that the affidavit of Jimmy Joyner was not filed with the trial court. This is clearly due to an oversight on behalf of counsel for the defendant, who has attached a copy of the sworn affidavit in the appendix of this brief. It is notable that, at no time prior to the hearing on the defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and certainly not in either of the plaintiff's written responses to the defendant's Motion and Supplemental Motion, did the plaintiff make note of this fact. In fact, the first time this omission was made known to the defendant's attorney was while reading the plaintiff's appellate brief. Despite this, the existence (or nonexistence) of the affidavit does nothing to change the fact that the plaintiff's claim(s) remain time barred and that the defendant had probable cause for its actions, as best evidenced by the fact that the plaintiff was convicted of the underlying offense in Justice Court. Any objection she had to the non-existence of the affidavit was waived with her failure to assert it on the trial court level

The plaintiff goes on to make additional broad, open-ended assertions that the trial court abused its discretion. This includes alleging that the trial court abused its discretion for failing to require strict compliance with its own *local* rules. Ms. Brown also alleges that the trial court refused to apply balance and equity during the hearing on Motion for Summary Judgment because it did not address the defendant's Motion for a protective order, which no response had been filed to. Because none of these arguments were addressed at the trial court level, they are waived.

VII.

CONCLUSION

The plaintiff has made a claim of false arrest. She has failed to plead any other claims. A claim for false arrest is an intentional tort which must be brought within one year of the alleged incident. Because the plaintiff failed to file her intentional tort claim within the one year statute of limitations, it must be dismissed as a matter of law. Her claim should also be

L

dismissed because, under Mississippi law, if probable cause exists for an arrest, no claim for false arrest can be made.